# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/17/2024 3:30 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 393607

Case #: 1029802

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### PARK SOUTH, LLC,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

### DENALI CONSTRUCTION, LLC; TAYLOR MOUNTAIN, LLC; and RICHARD LUDWIGSEN,

Defendants/Respondents.

#### **RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Todd J. Adolphson, WSBA No. 46755 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 W. 1<sup>st</sup> Avenue, Suite 1442 Spokane, WA 99201-3825 Telephone: 509-609-3820

Fax: 206-628-6611

Email: tadolphson@williamskastner.com

Attorneys for Respondents

### **

IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
v.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE 5				
	Α.	Relevant Facts Established at Trial 5			
	В.	Procedural History Establishing Justification for the Lis Pendens			
VI.	<b>ARGUMENT</b>				
	A.	Denali's Lien Rights and Claim of Unjust Enrichment Against Park South Cannot be Waived by a Contract to Which Denali was not a Party			
	В.	Washington Case Law Establishes Conclusively that a Subcontractor has the Right to Bring a Claim of Unjust Enrichment Against a Property Owner			
	C.	The Trial Court Correctly Found That Taylor had Substantial Justification to File Its Lis Pendens			

	D.	Washington Case Law Expressly Provides that a Lis Pendens is Permitted in a Lien Foreclosure Action - Denali had Substantial Justification to Record its Lis Pendens 25
	Е.	Denali is Exempt from any Damages Awarded Under RCW 4.28.328
	F.	Denali's Lien was Valid and in Compliance with RCW 60.04.091
	G.	The Court of Appeals Should Not have Remanded This Matter for Further Proceeding on Damages Related to the Lis Pendens 29
VII.	ATT	ORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES: RAP 18.1
		30
VIII	. CON	<b>ICLUSION</b>
IX.	CER	TIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 32

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### **CASES**

Columbia State Bank v. Invicta Law Grp. PLLC, 199 Wn. App. 306, 319 (2017)
Trane Co. v. Brown-Johnson, Inc., 48 Wn. App. 511, 520 (1987)
Chemical Bank v. WPPSS, 102 Wn. 2d 874, 909 (1984) 21
Chandler v. Washington Toll Bridge Auth., 17 Wn. 2d 591 (1943)
Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484 (2008)
In the case of <i>Irwin Concrete, Inc. v. Sun Coast Properties, Inc.</i> , 33 Wn. App. 190, 193-95 (1982)
<i>In re Estate of Jones</i> , 152 Wn. 2d 1, 8 (2004)22
S. Kitsap Family Worship Ctr. v. Weir, 135 Wn. App. 900, 912 (2006)
John Morgan Constr. Co., Inc. v. McDowell, 62 Wn. App. 79, 84 (1991)
Rieflin v. Grafton, 63 Wash. 387, 389 (1911)
STATUTES
RCW 4.28.328
RCW 60.04

RCW 4.28.325
RCW 4.28.320
Title 6
Title 60
RCW 60.70
RCW 6127
RCW 60.04.091
RCW 60.04.181
RULES
RAP 12.4
RAP 13.4
RAP 18.1
RAP 18 17 31

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Division III Court of Appeals' Opinion ushers in a new and harmful precedent that, if allowed to stand, will upend Washington State's construction industry and rewrite the fundamental principles of contract law. The Opinion issued by the Court of Appeals, reversing the Trial Court at nearly every turn, establishes that a general contractor can now unilaterally waive any right or claim its subcontractor may have against a property owner. The Opinion defies both law and logic.

Next, once again reversing the Trial Court, the Court of Appeals' Opinion obscures what "substantial justification" means as it applies to a lis pendens filed under RCW 4.28.328. The Court of Appeals' Opinion asserts that an entity cannot establish "substantial justification" for filing a lis pendens despite numerous court orders supporting the filing, despite all Parties agreeing that the contract establishing the basis for the lis pendens was valid and enforceable and despite the fact that the subject contract was the sole focus of nearly the entire litigation.

Finally, the Court of Appeals – once again reversing the Trial Court's findings – failed to follow to plain language of RCW 4.28.328 when it awarded damages related to a lis pendens filed in conjunction with a lien foreclosure action, which is expressly excluded by RCW 4.28.328.

Based on the foregoing, Review by the Washington State
Supreme Court is not only warranted, but necessary.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners are Denali Construction, LLC ("Denali") and Taylor Mountain, LLC, <sup>1</sup> ("Taylor") (collectively "Petitioners"), the Respondents in the Court of Appeals under Cause No. 393607 and the Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs in the Superior Court for Spokane County, Cause No. 20-2-02125-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant Park South failed to establish any claims against Mr. Richard Ludwigsen individually at the time of trial and no claims against him individually were raised on appeal.

### III. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Division III Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion filed on January 25, 2024. (Appendix A). Petitioners moved for reconsideration pursuant to RAP 12.4, which the Court of Appeals denied by Order filed March 19, 2024. (Appendix B).

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals' Opinion disregards the fundamental principal of contract and construction law by reversing the Trial Court and finding that Denali was not entitled to damages stemming from work performed on Park South's land because Taylor unilaterally waived Denali's lien rights and unjust enrichment claim against Park South.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals incorrectly reversed the Trial Court and found that Taylor did not have "substantial justification" to record a lis pendens against Park South's property, despite the lis pendens stemming from a Right of First

Purchaser clause contained in the Parties' Agreement which formed the basis for this entire action and which the Parties and Trial Court categorically deemed <u>valid and enforceable</u> throughout litigation.

- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicts with the plain language of RCW 4.28.328 which, as the Trial Court found, explicitly carves out liability for damages when a lis pendens is filed in conjunction with a mechanic's lien foreclosure action under RCW 60.04 as Denali did.
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals incorrectly reversed the Trial Court and found that Denali failed to file a valid and enforceable lien within 90 days after the last day performing work on the subject property.
- 5. Whether the case should be remanded to establish Park South's damages, when Park South failed to establish damages at the time of trial.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Relevant Facts Established at Trial.

### 1. Taylor and Park South Entered into a Land Development Agreement.

Taylor and Park South – <u>not Denali</u> – entered into a land development agreement called the Joint Venture Agreement on November 15, 2018 (the "JV"). (Clerks Papers ("CP") 782-788). Park South agreed to pay Taylor \$1,000,000.00 in return for Taylor developing a single parcel of Park South's land ("Phase 6"). (CP 782). The development of Phase 6 was based on drawings and specifications from 2014 (the "2014 Specifications"). (CP 788); (Report of Proceedings ("ROP"), 160:2-7). Under the JV, once Taylor completed development of Phase 6, Taylor and Park South would sell the developed single family lots and split the profits. (CP 783); (ROP, 158:2-8).

### 2. The JV Contained a Right of First Purchaser Clause.

The JV contained a "Right of First Purchaser" clause granting Taylor property interest in Phase 6, as well as six

subjoining parcels of Park South's land (the "Undeveloped Land"). (CP 785). The Right of First Purchaser established that Park South could not sell the Undeveloped Land to a third party without first offering Taylor the right to purchase the property based on the same terms. *Id.*; (ROP, 159:21-160:1).

3. Spokane County Implemented Unforeseen Change of Conditions Which Drastically Increased the Cost to Develop Phase 6.

One month after executing the JV, Spokane County implemented a "Change of Conditions" essentially replacing the 2014 Specifications used as the basis for the cost to develop Phase 6. The Change of Conditions drastically increases costs to develop the land by hundreds of thousands of dollars. (ROP, 163:20 – 165:2).

4. Park South Failed to Pay for the Work Performed and Park South Breached the Joint Venture.

Taylor proceeded to comply with the Joint Venture and it developed (with Denali as its subcontractor) the land in accordance with the Change of Conditions, despite incurring costs far beyond the agreed upon \$1,000,000.00. (ROP 169:17-172:17). However, Park South refused to pay for work performed. *Id.* Park South only paid \$707,987.50 despite Petitioners providing well over \$1,400,000.00 of improvements to Park South's land. (CP 1503, at ¶ 24); (ROP, 79:23-80:10). The last payment made by Park South was on June 24, 2019. (ROP, 80:6-8).

Based on its failure to pay under the terms of the JV, the Trial Court found that Park South, not Taylor, breached the JV. (CP 1511, ¶¶ 6-7). The Trial Court's finding that Park South breached the JV was not raised on appeal.

### 5. Taylor and Park South Entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement on September 6, 2019.

Taylor and Park South entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement on September 6, 2019 (the "2019 PSA") whereby Taylor agreed to purchase the entire seven parcels of Undeveloped Land owned by Park South. (CP 122-131).

6. The 2019 PSA Extinguished All of Park South and Taylor's Claims and Obligations – Denali was not a Party to the 2019 PSA.

Pursuant to the 2019 PSA entered into by Taylor and Park South, Taylor and Park South agreed to the following language:

Allprevious agreements and contractual obligations between the parties, including those expressed by and contained in the Joint Venture & Construction Improvement Agreement between Park South, LLC, Taylor Mountain LLC and Denali Construction, LLC are superseded supplemented by this agreement upon the execution of this agreement contract. Denali Construction LLC is to provide a separate written signed statement acknowledging its agreement.

 $(CP 129, \P 9).$ 

Based on the foregoing language, Park South and Taylor waived any and all claims and obligations related to the Joint Venture. *Id.*; (CP 1512, ¶¶ 8-9). However, <u>Denali's</u> claims for unjust enrichment and lien foreclosure against Park South remained actionable as Denali was not a party to the 2019 PSA and never provided a written statement waiving any of its claims

or lien rights. (CP 129); (ROP, 81:15-20); (ROP), 140:25-141:22).

The entirety of work performed and invoiced on Phase 6 occurred prior to September 6, 2019. (ROP, 280:1-9). Furthermore, all drilling and blasting had been completed by July of 2019. *Id*. The final invoice for work performed by Denali was sent in July 2019 for \$497,176.53. (CP 358).

If any work was performed after September 6, 2019 (the extent of which was never established at trial), that work was performed by Denali, but was not included in the amount awarded by the Trial Court.

### 7. Park South Breached the 2019 PSA, but Still Retained the \$25,000.00 in Earnest Money.

Park South failed to disclose material water access issues on the property. (CP 1504-1505, at ¶ 39); (ROP 81:21-82:16). Based on the material breach of the 2019 PSA, Taylor did not purchase the land, yet Park South retained the \$25,000.00 in earnest money. (CP 1505, at ¶ 40); (ROP, 132:5-16).

# 8. January 8, 2020 was Denali's Final Day on the Project – Denali Filed its Lien Within 90 Days of January 8, 2020.

On January 8, 2020, Denali performed stabilization and winterization of Phase 6 at the request of Park South. (CP 1505, at ¶ 41); (ROP, 182:10-21). On April 7, 2020, Denali recorded its lien against Phase 6 – within 90 days of its last day working on the project. (CP 160-162). The form and substance of Denali's lien complied with RCW 60.04. (CP 1508, at ¶¶ 1-10).

### 9. Park South's Complaint was Based Expressly on Breach of the JV.

On August 5, 2020, Park South filed its Complaint against Taylor Mountain based on breach of the JV – despite expressly waiving such claims when it signed the 2019 PSA. (CP 3-7). By simply filing the Complaint based on the obligations which had been previously waived, Park South was in breach of the terms of the 2019 PSA. *Id.* Park South's own Complaint specifically alleges that "Park South has no express contract with Denali" which supports Denali's Unjust Enrichment claim. *Id.* at ¶ 27.

### 10. Denali and Taylor Filed Counterclaims on October 26, 2020.

On October 26, 2020, Denali and Taylor filed separate Answers and Counterclaims. (CP 14-32). Denali's counterclaims included a lien foreclosure and unjust enrichment, while Taylor's counterclaims included breach of contract and quantum meruit, also based on the JV. *Id*. Because Park South filed claims in breach of the 2019 PSA, <u>Taylor and Park South believed the JV was still the controlling document.</u>

### 11. Denali and Taylor Prevailed at Trial.

After a two-day bench trial, the Trial Court found:

- 1. Park South was in breach of the Joint Venture Agreement. (<u>This issue was not raised on appeal by Park South</u>);
- 2. Park South owed Denali **\$432,929.26** for unpaid work performed;
- 3. Denali filed a valid and enforceable lien:
- 4. The lis pendens filed by both Denali and Taylor were substantially justified;

- 5. Park South did no prevail on its breach of contract claim (<u>This issue was not raised on appeal by Park South</u>);
- 6. Park South did not prevail on its unjust enrichment claim (This issue was not raised on appeal by Park South).
- 7. Park South did not prevail on any claim against Richard Ludwigsen individually including claims of alter ego, failure to adhere to corporate formalities, or undercapitalization. (This issue was not raised on appeal by Park South).
- 8. Denali was entitled to an award of fees and costs under the lien statute; and
- 9. Park South owed Taylor \$25,000.00 plus prejudgment interest for the earnest money withheld after the 2019 PSA failed to close.

(CP 1500-1514).

Thereafter, Park South was unsuccessful on its Motion for Reconsideration. (CP 2060-62).

- B. Procedural History Establishing Justification for the Lis Pendens.
  - 1. The Complaint, the Motions filed by Park South and the Trial Court's own rulings throughout litigation provided Taylor "substantial justification," in law and in fact, for filing the lis pendens.

Taylor filed its lis pendens against all seven parcels of land based on the Right of First Purchase clause contained in the JV. (CP 214-217).

While the Court of Appeals found that that 2019 PSA extinguished the obligations under the JV, Taylor was substantially justified in filing the lis pendens based on the actions of both the Court and Park South throughout litigation, specifically:

1. Park South's Complaint for breach of contract expressly states "[a] valid contract, the [Joint Venture Agreement], exists between park South and Taylor Mountain." (CP 5). Park South made no

- reference to the 2019 PSA in its complaint. (CP 1-7).
- 2. Taylor filed its counterclaims also based on the valid JV. (CP 26-32).
- 3. On March 5, 2021, Park South filed a Motion for Summary Judgment to affirmatively enforce the JV. (CP 174-181). It was only after the summary judgment to enforce the JV was filed that Taylor filed its lis pendens on May 4, 2021. (CP 2014-2017).
- 4. On September 9, 2021, the Trial Court entered an Order establishing that the JV was valid and enforceable. (CP 566-568).

In its written findings granting the Motion, the Trial Court explained that "<u>It is</u> undisputed that the parties had a valid contract . . ." (Respondents' Index to Appendix: Motion for Reconsideration, pg.

- 3, filed with the Court of Appeals on February 13, 2024).
- 5. On July 30, 2021, Park South filed its initial Trial Brief asserting under the Breach of Contract Section, "there is no dispute that a valid and enforceable Joint Venture & Construction Agreement ("Agreement") exists between Park South, LLC ("Park South") and Taylor Mountain, LLC." (CP 470).
- 6. On September 3, 2021, Park South filed another Summary Judgment, once again asserting that the JV was valid and enforceable, and requested that Taylor's lis pendens be cancelled. (CP 519-525).
- 7. On June 16, 2022, the Trial Court denied Park South's Motion to Cancel the Lis Pendens. (CP 1083-1084).
- 8. On June 24, 2022, Park South again moved for summary judgment once again requesting the Trial

- Court cancel the lis pendens on its property. (CP 1085-1092).
- 9. On July 8, 2022, the Trial Court again denied Park South's request to cancel the lis pendens. (CP 1116).
- 10. On September 21, 2022, after a two day bench trial, the Court affirmed that the lis pendens were substantially justified by both Denali and Taylor. (CP 1510-1511).
- 11. On November 10, 2022, after considering a Motion for Reconsideration, the Trial Court denied Park South's Motion for Reconsideration, once again affirming justification for the lis pendens. (CP 2060-2063).
- 12. On January 9, 2024, the Trial Court, while this matter was on appeal, entered an order denying Park South's request to cancel the lis pendens.

13. As recently as March 19, 2024, the Court of Appeals denied park South's Motion to Cancel the Lis Pendens.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

Review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion is necessary under RAP 13.4. The Opinion conflicts with prior decisions from both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court of Washington, and it cuts against basic principles of contract law. Further, it involves an issue of substantial public interest, specifically, what constitutes "substantial justification" as it relates to filing a lis pendens? Finally, the Court of Appeals' Opinion disregards the plain language of RCW 4.28.328. There exists a substantial public interest in assuring that our court's opinions and rulings appropriately apply legal statutes.

A. Denali's Lien Rights and Claim of Unjust Enrichment Against Park South Cannot be Waived by a Contract to Which Denali was not a Party.

Denali was a prevailing party at trial. As such, the Court of Appeals should have viewed the evidence and all reasonable

inferences in the light most favorable to Denali – it did not. *Columbia State Bank v. Invicta Law Grp. PLLC*, 199 Wn. App. 306, 319 (2017). Furthermore it is a foundational pillar of contract law that "[o]ne who is not a party to a contract can neither enforce its provisions nor be bound by them." *Trane Co. v. Brown-Johnson, Inc.*, 48 Wn. App. 511, 520 (1987).

At the conclusion of trial, the Trial Court correctly exercised it discretion and it found that Denali was <u>not</u> a party to the 2019 PSA. (CP 1504, at ¶ 35). Yet, despite the Trial Court's findings the Court of Appeals found the following:

Given the terms of the 2019 PSA . . . <u>Taylor</u> Mountain disclaimed any claims against Park South on its own behalf and on behalf of Denali.

(Appendix A, pg. 13).

In contrast to the Court of Appeals' Opinion, the testimony provided at trial categorically supports the Trial Court's finding that Denali was not a party to the 2019 PSA. Notably, the following testimony was offered at the time of trial:

Atty. Adolphson: [the] 2019 purchase sales agreement, was Denali Construction ever part of that contract?

Mr. Ludwigsen: No, it was not.

Atty.. Adolphson: And did Denali ever provide a separate written signed statement agreeing to the terms of the 2019 PSA?

Mr. Ludwigsen: No, it did not.

(ROP, 81:15-20).

Atty. Adolphson: And the last sentence in that paragraph says, "Denali Construction LLC is to provide a separate written signed statement in support of this acknowledgement." Do you see that?

Mr. Kofmehl (Park South's sole member): Yes.

Atty. Adolphson: And did we establish Denali never sent you a signed written statement to that affect, correct?

Mr. Kofmehl: No, it was Taylor Mountain. Denali was separate, so he included them.

<u>Atty. Adolphson</u>: Right, but Denali did not provide a separate written statement, correct?

Mr. Kofmehl: Well, he didn't provide a lot of things that he was going to provide . . .

. . .

Atty. Adolphson: I just want to make sure because I don't know if you answered it quite. But Denali Construction never provided a written statement –

Mr. Kofmehl: Not that I am familiar with.

(ROP, 140:25-141:22).

The testimony establishes that the Parties agree that Denali was not a party to the 2019 PSA Park South and Taylor.

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