SUMMARY 

Petitioner Darren Ludwigsen (“Ludwigsen”) signed a Real 

Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement – and integrated Settlement 

Agreement (“PSA-SA”) on September 6, 2019, which resolves 

and disposes of all the issues between the Parties, and which the 

trial court refused to enforce. (Ex P-14)  

The Court of Appeals held, inter alia, that the PSA-SA is 

valid and enforceable. 

Attempting to manufacture a basis for further review 

under RAP 13.4(b), Petitioners broadly misstate the record: 

damages for the wrongful lis pendens were expressly sought at 

trial; and error was specifically assigned to the findings and

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

(Respondents’ Brief p. 9).  

In the 2019 PSA-SA, Ludwigsen, in paragraph 1, 

represented as follows:  
Buyer acknowledges the invalidity of and disclaim 
all allegations against Park South, LLC, expressed 
in the letter, dated August 07, 2019, sent by Darren 
Ludwigsen to Park South’s legal representative, 
Michael Whipple, described in paragraphs 1-3 in 
section entitles “Sale of Unfinished Lots;” and 
acknowledge neither Taylor Mountain LLC 
and/or Denali Construction LLC or its 
principals have incurred any harm or damages 
as a result of any actions or inactions of Park 
South LLC. Denali Construction LLC is to provide 
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a separate, written, signed statement in support of 
these acknowledgements. 

[Ex P-14] (emphasis added). 

Ludwigsen again interjected representations on behalf 

Denali into paragraph 9 of the 2019 PSA-SA that:  
All previous agreements and contractual obligations 
between the parties, including those expressed by 
and contained in the Joint Venture & Construction 
Improvement Agreement between Park South LLC, 
Taylor Mountain LLC and Denali Construction 
LLC, are superseded and supplanted by this 
agreement upon the execution of this agreement 
contract.  

[Ex P-14] 

The fact Ludwigsen breached his promise to provide a 

separate, written, signed statement acknowledging its agreement 

does not provide Denali with a free pass. Ludwigsen made 

representations on behalf of Denali that were contained in the 

2019 PSA-SA and he bound Denali to those representations, 

because: “All previous agreements and contractual obligations 

… are superseded and supplanted by this agreement upon the 

execution of this agreement contract.” 

To find otherwise would mean that Ludwigsen would 

benefit from his elaborate shell game involving his two LLCs. 
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“The doctrine of waiver ordinarily applies to all rights or 

privileges to which a person is legally entitled. A waiver is the 

intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right, or 

such conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of 

such right. Estate of Dempsy by and through Smith v. Spokane 

Washington Hospital Company LLC, 1 Wn. App. 2d 628, 637, 

406 P.3d 1162 (2017). Waiver can be expressed or implied with 

an express waiver being governed by its own terms. Matter of 

Estate of Petelle, 195 Wn.2d 661, 665, 462 P.3d 848 (2020).  

In the 2019 PSA-SA, Ludwigsen represented,  
Buyer attests that Buyer had full and ample 
opportunity to thoroughly review, inspect, and 
evaluate the Property and any improvements, and is 
completely satisfied with the status and condition of 
the Property and fully acknowledges that the 
Buyer is purchasing the property, expressly, on 
an “as-is” basis. Buyer expressly waives its right 
to receive any disclosure statements including 
those described under RCW 64.06.010. 

[Ex P 14 ¶¶ 7-8] (emphasis added). 

This matter was commenced in 2020.  

At trial in 2022, Ludwigsen claimed for the first time, and 

based on nothing more than his word, that funding fell through 

for the purchase of the property because an unspecified “lender” 
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wanted ‘more information on the water access issue’. [RP, 56:25; 

57:1 – 24; p. 58:1 – 9] Ludwigsen did not explain why he 

conducted no due diligence on the water access issue prior to the 

2018 PSA or while working on the property pursuant to the Joint 

Venture Agreement. [Id.] 

The 2019 PSA-SA expressly provides that Taylor 

Mountain was purchasing the property “as-is” and that Taylor 

Mountain waived all disclosure statements. Taylor Mountain’s 

express waiver of the disclosure statements, including those 

described in RCW 65.06.010, demonstrates that Park South was 

not in breach of the agreement. The best evidence rule, ER 1002, 

requires the original writing, or copy pursuant to ER 1003 when 

a party is attempting to prove the “contents” of such writing. 

Rhyne v. Bates, 35 Wn. App. 529, 531, 667 P.2d 1131 (1983). 

“This rule exists because the nature of certain documents is often 

such that the exact words are of more than average importance, 

particularly in operative or dispositive instruments, since a slight 

difference in words may mean a great difference in rights.” Id. 
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Park South presented the best evidence, the 2019 PSA-SA, 

which was admitted into evidence. The 2019 PSA-SA 

contemplated and expressly waived disclosure statements. 
 

C. Ludwigsen Wasn’t a Subcontractor, He Was The 
Developer And The General Contractor. Then, On 
September 6, 2019, Ludwigsen Signed the PSA-SA, 
Which “Superseded and Supplanted” “All Previous 
Agreements and Contractual Obligations Between the 
Parties, including … Denali Construction LLC” 
“Upon the Execution of This Agreement Contract.” 

Ludwigsen contends that ‘a subcontractor has the right to 

bring a claim of unjust enrichment against a property owner.’ 

Except Ludwigsen and his alter ego LLCs were not 

subcontractors; they were the Developer and the General 

Contractor.  
“Ordinarily, a property owner who retains a 
general contractor assumes no “direct obligation” 
to the general contractor’s subcontractors. Del 
Guzzi Constr. Co., Inc. v. Global Nw. Ltd., Inc., 105 
Wn.2d 878, 886-87, 719 P.2d 120 (1986). If anyone 
had a duty to tell Denali to stop working on the 
jobsite once the joint venture agreement was 
terminated, it was Taylor Mountain. To the extent 
Denali was unaware it needed to stop work on the 
project, its claim is against Taylor Mountain, not 
Park South.” (P.14-15).  
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A party to a contract is bound by the provisions of the 

contract and may not disregard the same and bring an action on 

an implied contract relating to the same matter. Boyd v. 

Sunflower Props., LLC, 197, 149, 389 P.3d 626 (2016). Unjust 

enrichment and quantum meruit are equitable remedies available 

in absence of a contractual relationship. Young v. Young, 164 

Wn.2d 477, 484, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008). 

On September 6, 2019, Ludwigsen signed the 2019 PSA-

SA which expressly superseded and supplanted the Joint Venture 

Agreement. [Ex P-14] As discussed above, in the 2019 PSA-SA 

Ludwigsen acknowledged that Denali had no claims against Park 

South, and the PSA-SA became effective once Ludwigsen signed 

it. [Ex P-14]. 

Respondents contend that Park South never directed 

Denali to stop working on the site, and therefore Park South was 

unjustly enriched. First, Park South didn’t need to tell Ludwigsen 

to “stop working”, because Denali does not claim to be owed 

money for any work performed on or after September 6, 2019, 

and because Denali admits it never sent any invoice demanding 

payment for work performed on or after September 6, 2019. 
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Second, the September 6, 2019, PSA-SA, signed by Ludwigsen, 

extinguished all prior contracts, including the JVA.  

In Irwin Concrete, Inc. v. Sun Coast Properties, Inc., 33 

Wn. App. 190, 194-195, 653 P.2d 1331 (1982), the owner told 

the subcontractor that he had to work in order to receive funds, 

the owner told the subcontractor that the work was secure, and 

that the subcontractor certified its completed work to the owner. 

No similar facts are present in the record in the case at hand. 
 

D. Ludwigsen Falsely Claims Park South Failed To Assign 
Error. 

Ludwigsen claims that the trial court found that Park South 

had failed to pay $432,000 for work completed which was 

uncontested on appeal. This contention is false. See Appellant’s 

Brief at pp. 7-9. As set forth in Appellant’s Brief: 
9. Findings 14, 15, 16, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 
and 25; TM / Denali Begin Work, and Billing For 
Work Completed. (Ex P-64, D-108, D-109, D-110, 
D-111, D-112, D-113) 
10. Findings 14 ~ 25; Conclusions ‘D’ 1, 2, 3, 4, 
and 5; ‘F’ 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, and 10. AHBL Engineers 
Continued To Work For Taylor Mountain To 
Implement The Plat Modification. (Ex D-191, D-
192, D-193, D-154, D-155, D-156, D-157, D-158) 
11. Findings 24, 25, 27, 28, 29, 31, 60, and 61; 
Conclusions ‘D’ 1-5; ‘F’ 1-10. Taylor Mountain 
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Demanded $311,600 Increase to Contract Price, 
Park South Refused. (Ex D-145, D-114, P-10, D-
115, P-2, P-67, D-126) 
12. Findings 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 41, and 49; 
Conclusions ‘C’ 1; ‘J’ 1. Last day subcontractors 
worked was August 9, 2019. (Ex P-69, P-15, P-16, 
D-143) 
13. Findings 9, 20-23, 25-29, 31, 47-58, 60-61; 
Conclusions ‘C’ 1-17; ‘E’ 1-6; ‘J’ 1. Denali Filed 
Claim of Lien as to .9041 Parcel. Denali Filed Lis 
Pendens As to Five (5) Parcels It Performed No 
Work On. (Ex P-2, P-28, Supp. Desig. CP – SN 55 
Exh. B Lis Pendens) 

(See Appellant’s Brief at 7-9) 

Ludwigsen represented that “Buyer” would not incur any 

additional expenses or obligations with regard to or related to the 

Property after the execution of the agreement. [Ex P-14 ¶11] 

Despite these representations, Ludwigsen, as another 

example of his corporate shell game, personally signed Denali’s 

Lien against Park South in an attempt to get around his 

obligations under the 2019 PSA-SA. 

Ludwigsen admits that Denali sent no bills on or after 

September 6, 2019. (Respondents’ Brief p. 23)  

If Denali admits it sent no bills on or after September 6, 

2019, then Denali should not have recorded a lien against Park 

South’s property.  
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Taylor Mountain and Denali, in the 2019 PSA-SA, 

expressly waive and disclaim all allegations against Park South 

for any claims existing prior to September 6, 2019. Further, the 

PSA-SA allocates responsibility for claims arising after 

September 6, 2019, to Taylor Mountain.  

Ludwigsen’s corporate shell game assertion that it was 

Ludwigsen’s other company filed the lien is disingenuous. As 

quoted above, Ludwigsen expressly bound both of his companies 

when he signed the PSA-SA. 
 

E. “Upon [Ludwigsen’s] Execution of” the September 6, 
2019, PSA-SA, “All Previous Agreements and 
Contractual Obligations Between the Parties” Were 
“Superseded and Supplanted”. Ludwigsen Had No 
Legal Basis, on May 4, 2021, to Record the Lis Pendens. 

Ludwigsen claims the lis pendens was ‘substantially 

justified.’ Yet, Ludwigsen knew that Ludwigsen signed the 

September 6, 2019, PSA-SA, as of that date. Ludwigsen had no 

basis to claim, two years later, that the expressly extinguished 

and superseded November 18, 2018, JVA entitled him to record 

a lis pendens against five (5) unrelated parcels.  
 
The joint venture agreement between Taylor 
Mountain and Park South terminated on September 
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6, 2019. Given its sole member signed the 
agreement terminating the joint venture, Denali 
certainly knew about this change in events even 
though it never signed a separate acknowledgment. 
There is no evidence that Park South said or did 
anything to encourage Denali to work on the project 
after September 6, 2019. Yet Denali did not record 
its claim of lien until April 7, 2020. This fell far 
outside the 90-day filing window. The lien was 
therefore invalid. (P. 16).  
 
In this context, a substantial justification means a 
“reasonable, good faith basis in fact or law for 
believing they have an [ownership] interest in the 
property.” … Here, Taylor Mountain’s purported 
interest in the property was its right of first refusal 
under the joint venture agreement and Denali’s 
purported interest was its lien. But as set forth 
above, the joint venture agreement – including the 
right of first refusal – was extinguished by the 2019 
PSA. And as previously explained, Denali’s lien was 
filed far outside the 90-day statutory limitation 
period. Given these fundamental defects, neither 
Taylor Mountain nor Denali had a substantial legal 
basis for recording the lis pendens.” (P.18).  

 
F. Denali Had Neither “an interest or a right to acquire 

an interest in the real property against which the lis 
pendens was filed”, Meaning the Lis Pendens is 
Without Legal or Factual Basis.  

Ludwigsen contends that a lien entitled him to file a lis 

pendens. But the lien was never valid, and because Ludwigsen 

signed the September 6, 2019, PSA-SA, neither he nor his LLCs 
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had either an interest in, or the right to acquire an interest in Park 

South’s real property. Consequently, the lis pendens recorded on 

May 4, 2021, was invalid ab initio. 
 

G. “Upon [Ludwigsen’s] Execution of” the September 6, 
2019, PSA-SA, “All Previous Agreements and 
Contractual Obligations Between the Parties” Were 
“Superseded and Supplanted”. Ludwigsen Had No 
Legal Basis, on April 7, 2020, to Record the Lien. 

A lien is a creature of statute and a derogation of common 

law, and the lien statutes must be construed strictly to determine 

whether a lien attaches. Estate of Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice 

Arena, Inc. 166, Wn.2d 489, 498, 210 P.3d 308 (2009). A notice 

of lien must be filed no later than ninety (90) days after a person 

has ceased to furnish labor, professional services, materials, or 

equipment. RCW 60.04.091. The lien must include the name of 

the person indebted to the claimant. RCW 60.04.091(1)(c). A 

lien for furnishing labor, professional services, materials, must 

be for the contract price of the labor, professional services, and 

materials and must be furnished at the instance of the owner. 

RCW 60.04.021. 

No evidence was presented at trial that Park South directed 

Denali to work after September 6, 2019, when the 2019 PSA-SA 
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was signed, and no evidence was presented at trial that Park 

South directed Denali to work on January 8, 2020. Pursuant to 

RCW 60.04.091 and RCW 60.04.021, Denali did not file a valid 

lien as any work it performed did not come at instance of the 

owner and all invoices for work performed by Denali occurred 

prior to January 2020, more than ninety (90) days prior to the lien 

filing. 

Moreover, pursuant to Ludwigsen’s ongoing corporate 

shell game, Denali’s lien does not comply with RCW 

60.04.091(c) since the subcontract was between Ludwigsen’s 

companies Denali and Taylor Mountain. The lien erroneously 

claims that Park South was indebted to Denali. [Ex P-28] The 

lien, which Ludwigsen personally signed on behalf of Denali, 

fails to include the prime contractor, Ludwigsen’s company 

Taylor Mountain, which should also have been listed on the lien 

pursuant to RCW 60.04.091(c). [Ex P-28] RCW 60.04.091(c) 

requires that the claimant list the name of the person indebted, 

which would have been Taylor Mountain, the general contractor. 

In addition to Taylor Mountain being responsible for any lien 

placed on the property by Denali pursuant to the 2019 PSA-SA, 
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by not listing the prime contractor (Ludwigsen’s company) on 

the lien, Ludwigsen affected Park South’s ability to recover from 

Taylor Mountain pursuant to RCW 60.04.151. 
 

There is no evidence that after execution of the 2019 
PSA, Park South either encouraged Denali to work 
on the project or silently acquiesced in such work. 
… Denali points to an August 10, 2019, email 
exchange between Patrick Kofmehl and Josh 
Nicholson, Richard Ludwigsen’s business partner at 
Taylor Mountain, where Mr. Kofmehl commented he 
‘would like to see this project completed.’ Ex. D-266. 
Mr. Kofmehl’s email does not indicate Park South 
encouraged Denali to keep working on the project. 
For one thing, the email was not directed at Denali. 
But more importantly, the email predated the 2019 
PSA, whereby Taylor Mountain agreed to stop work, 
by at least several weeks. [D.14] 

H. Attorney’s Fees and Expenses Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j). 

 Respondent Park South was awarded costs and contractual 

attorney’s fees by the Court of Appeals in its Decision. Pursuant 

to RAP 18.1(j), Park South requests an award of the costs and 

attorney’s fees expended in preparing and filing this Answer to 

the Petition for Review.  
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny the 

Petition for Review, and should award Respondent Park South 

its costs and reasonable attorney’s fees. 

Per RAP 18.17(c)(10), this Answer has 4,998 allowable 

words.